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Public Bill Committee
Tuesday 23 June 2020
(Morning)
[SIR DAVID AMESS in the Chair]

Parliamentary Constituencies Bill
9.25 am
Ordered,
That, the Order of the Committee of 18 June be varied so as to
omit the tenth, eleventh and twelfth rows in the table and substitute
the following—
Tuesday
23 June

Until no later
than 9.55 am

Tuesday
23 June

Until no later
than 10.20 am

Dr Alan Renwick,
The Constitution Unit,
University College London
Professor Robert Hazell,
The Constitution Unit,
University College London
The Green Party

—(Chloe Smith.)

Mrs Maria Miller (Basingstoke) (Con): On a point of
order, Sir David. Can I perhaps ask that Members be
given priority to sit, so we can hear the evidence?
The Chair: That is what I thought would have been
done. Surely the Members should be in the main body.
Mrs Miller: Further to that point of order, Sir David.
Actually, perhaps the Whip can make room. Thank
you, Sir David.
Examination of Witnesses
Professor Robert Hazell and Dr Alan Renwick gave
evidence.
9.26 am
The Chair: We will now hear from Professor Robert
Hazell and Dr Alan Renwick, both from the constitution
unit at University College London. We have until 9.55.
They are appearing virtually, in audio only. Professor
Robert Hazell, can you hear me?
Professor Hazell: Yes, I can hear you, and I apologise
for being a disembodied voice. Can you hear me?
The Chair: We can hear you loud and clear, professor.
Dr Alan Renwick, can you hear us?
Dr Renwick: Good morning. I can hear you very
well.
The Chair: You have probably never taken part in one
of these sittings before, and I do not think that any of
us have done so in these circumstances, so it is a big
learning curve for us all, but please relax and enjoy the
sitting. Colleagues are not here to interrogate you. They
are trying to get information out of you to enrich the
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deliberations that the Committee will begin on Thursday.
Professor Hazell, would you briefly introduce yourself,
please?
Professor Hazell: I am Professor Robert Hazell. I was
the founder and first director of the constitution unit
at University College London and I am professor of
government and the constitution.
The Chair: Dr Renwick, would you introduce yourself,
please?
Dr Renwick: I am Dr Alan Renwick. I am the deputy
director of the constitution unit at University College
London and I lead our work on elections and referendums.
Q135 The Minister of State, Cabinet Office (Chloe
Smith): Professor Hazell and Dr Renwick, thank you
very much for joining us. You very kindly supplied some
written evidence, and I am sure we have all had a chance
to look at your recent blogposts—thank you for those.
Could you take us through what you see as the independence
of the UK boundary review process, which in your
written evidence you describe as
“among the best in the world”?

Dr Renwick: Perhaps I can kick off. Thank you,
Minister, for that question, and thank you to the Committee
for inviting us this morning.
As you say, the boundary commissions in the UK are
unusual in international comparison in the degree to
which they uphold the principle of independence. They
are appointed in a process that, on the whole, upholds
that principle. As we said in our submission, we have
some concerns that the safeguards should be enhanced,
but the process that the commissions follow is independent
of Government and of Parliament, as it should be. The
principle that should be followed is that those who have
a direct interest in the outcome of the review process
should not be able to determine the outcome of that
process, so it is proper that Parliament sets the overall
rules but that the process is then conducted by the
independent boundary commissions. Of course, it is
also proper that MPs should be able to make submissions
to the boundary commissions, as they do, but that the
final decisions ought to be made by the commissions.
At present, the reviews are conducted by the boundary
commissions, but it is then up to Parliament to decide
whether to implement those reviews. It seems to us that
that is simply a very clear breach of the principle of
independence. There have been three cases now—in
1969, 2013 and 2018—when the review was blocked in
one way or another. That is not a desirable outcome.
Whether or not partisan or personal interests were
involved in those decisions, at the very least the perception
is created that they could have been. That is undesirable,
and we now have boundaries that at least in England
are based on electoral registers from 2000—clearly, they
are very out of date.
We have a strong view that it is correct to have
automatic implementation of reviews, which already
works very well and without any problem in Australia,
New Zealand and Canada. It ought to be introduced in
the UK as well, alongside better safeguards to ensure
that the current independence of the boundary commissions
from Government cannot be taken away by Government
in the future.
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Q136 Cat Smith (Lancaster and Fleetwood) (Lab):
Thank you so much, Professor Hazell and Dr Renwick,
for giving evidence to the Committee this morning. I
want to thank you for your blogpost on 5 June, which
was in response to our Second Reading debate, and
explore some of the issues that you raise, including that
the
“safeguards against a government that wanted to interfere are
relatively weak.”

Of course I am not suggesting that that is the position
of the current Government, but obviously when we
legislate we need to safeguard against any interference
by future Governments who may wish to interfere with
the process.
You explained that you have various concerns about
the Bill and you suggest various solutions to strengthen
it. What action do you think could be taken to improve
the Bill, in order to safeguard us from political interference?
Also, can you expand slightly on some of the solutions
that you outlined in that blog, for example an amendment
perhaps to legislate to bar members of or donors to
political parties from appointment to the commission,
as is the case with local government?
Professor Hazell: Shall I answer that question? The
first point to make is that the greatest risk of political
interference is the one that Alan Renwick referred to in
his first answer—namely, the ability of Parliament at
the final stage to vote down the orders made by the
boundary commissioners for their proposed changes.
The strongest single point in our submission to the
Committee is that in future the boundary commissions’
reports should be implemented automatically, without
any opportunity for Parliament to intervene at that
final stage.
As we also argue in our submission, however, there is
a risk that once Parliament loses the ability to control
the final decision, the Government may seek to influence
the work of the boundary commissions prior to that
final stage. I think, Ms Smith, that was the burden of
your question, and in our submission we propose four
ways in which the independence of the commission in
future should be strengthened, mainly through tightening
up the appointments process.
Briefly, those four ways are as follows: first, that in
future the commissioners should be appointed for
a single, non-renewable term, as with many other
constitutional watchdogs, which I can enumerate if you
want further details; secondly, that they should be subject
to the same political restrictions as members of the
Local Government Boundary Commission for England,
which performs a very similar boundary defining function;
thirdly, that the deputy chair of each commission should
sit on the appointments panel, as indeed they did last
year in the selection of two new boundary commissioners;
and fourthly, that the appointing Minister should be
required to appoint only from the names recommended
by the panel.
Therefore, we are recommending that paragraphs 3.2
and 3.3 of the “Governance Code on Public Appointments”
should be disapplied for these appointments. I remind
members of the Committee that those paragraphs allow
Ministers in some cases to appoint someone who has
not been deemed appointable by the assessment panel,
and in exceptional cases Ministers may decide to appoint
a candidate without holding a competition.
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Q137 Mrs Miller: I thank both individuals who are
giving evidence this morning for doing so. It is incredibly
helpful for our deliberations. I want to press them on
the key point of their evidence, which is the importance
of the automaticity element of the Bill, to understand
why that is central to their evidence, particularly the
impact on the democratic process of the three previous
reviews being blocked. What has been the impact of
that, and why is this matter so important to get right?
Dr Renwick: One impact is simply the delay that is
introduced into the process. As I said, at present we
have boundaries that were first used in 2010, and in
2005 in the case of in Scotland, which are based on
electoral registers that in England’s case date from 2000.
Those registers are now 20 years old, and clearly that
delay is undesirable.
Secondly, as I suggested, there is at least a danger of
the perception that the process is not as impartial as it
should be, and it seems to me clearly undesirable to
create that perception.
Thirdly, there is the danger of the reality that the
process is not as impartial as it should be. I do not think
it is helpful for me to speculate on what the motivations
might or might not have been for the decisions that have
been taken on those reviews. Perhaps it is safer to go
back to the 1969 case, given that no one involved in that
decision is present any longer. I think it is fairly universally
accepted that that review was blocked because the Labour
Government at the time thought that they would lose
seats as a result of the implementation of the review
and therefore they did not want that to go ahead.
There are similar perceptions in the case of the 2013
decision not to proceed with the review and the decision
in 2018 not to go ahead with the review, but I do not
want to speculate on whether those perceptions are
correct.
Mrs Miller: Can I ask a supplementary?
The Chair: We have at least six colleagues wishing to
ask questions and only 14 minutes left.
Q138 Mrs Miller: I was not particularly pressing on
the motivations, although I note Dr Renwick’s response
on that. I wanted to ask about the impact. Dr Renwick,
you have talked about it being undesirable to have a
delay and to appear partial, but were there any further
impacts on democracy in this country that you wanted
to put on the record?
Dr Renwick: Some people have expressed a concern
that, because the boundaries are old, they have had a
marked biasing effect on election results. The evidence
shows that, in fact, the effect is quite small. There are a
number of factors that can mean that a vote cast for one
party has more weight in the overall results than a vote
cast for another party. The main factors that shape
that are turnout. Turnout in Labour seats tends to be
lower than turnout in Conservative seats, and therefore
Labour MPs tend to be elected with fewer votes than
Conservative MPs.
The second big factor is the efficiency of the distribution
of votes across the country. Between 1997 and 2005, the
Labour vote was much more efficiently distributed than
the Conservative vote. Labour had tended to win more
marginal seats and did not waste, as it were, lots of votes
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in constituencies that it lost, whereas in the last several
elections the Conservatives have had the more efficient
distribution of votes across the country. Those are the
main factors that lead to biases in terms of the overall
election result.
There is also some effect from the distribution of
constituencies—both the distribution between the countries
within the United Kingdom and the distribution within
those countries. At recent elections those effects have
produced small biases in favour of Labour, but those
are fairly small biases. I am sure you will hear much
more on this when you hear evidence from Charles
Pattie and David Rossiter, who are the real experts on
this, but the consensus in the literature on this is that
that effect is fairly small. The effect that really matters is
the effect on the democratic principles, not the outcome
of elections.
The Chair: I thank our witnesses for their full answers,
but I am afraid we will have to have very brief questions
and responses.
Q139 Clive Efford (Eltham) (Lab): How far should
we go in ensuring that whole communities are kept
intact when we form a parliamentary constituency
boundary, when balanced against trying to achieve
equality of the value of someone’s vote?
Dr Renwick: Both of the principles that you have just
mentioned matter, and so does the principle that there
should not be too much chopping and changing of
constituency boundaries from election to election. There
is no single correct answer to the question of how those
different principles should be balanced. The Venice
Commission from the Council of Europe recommends
a maximum deviation from perfect equality in numerical
terms of 10%. Currently, under the UK rules we have
5%. The evidence from Charles Pattie and David Rossiter,
which I am sure you will hear this afternoon, suggests
that something like a deviation of 8% would allow
much greater account to be taken of local community
ties and much less chopping and changing between
elections.
Q140 Clive Efford: In order to achieve making sure
that communities are kept intact, is it desirable that the
Boundary Commission has flexibility and is not kept to
a maximum of 5%?
Dr Renwick: I think there should be a maximum, but
there is a good case for saying that the maximum could
be extended a little bit without undue cost to the
equality of the vote.
Q141 Alec Shelbrooke (Elmet and Rothwell) (Con): It
is always dangerous to go head to head with an academic,
but in terms of the 5% and the 10%, my reading of the
Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe
report is that it is a 10% variation between seats, not a
20% variation. May I clarify, Dr Renwick, that when
you talk about the 5% difference, that actually gives an
overall difference of 10% between seats, whereas a 10%
difference would give an overall difference of 20% between
seats?
Dr Renwick: What I am referring to is the guidance
from the Venice Commission. My reading of that is
that it implies a 10% deviation from the average. If we
look at other countries, we see that in New Zealand the
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deviation is permitted as 5% from the average, and in
Australia it is, so far as possible, 3% from the average,
and not more than 10%. Therefore, numbers around 5%
to 10% seem to be fairly standard. There is no answer
that an academic can give you as to what is the correct
number, but something in that region is appropriate.
Q142 Alec Shelbrooke: To follow that up, given that
we are talking about keeping communities together, as
the hon. Member for Eltham has said, does the Bill
need to give more clarification to the Boundary Commission
for England? In Scotland, the system is much more
in-depth, with smaller building blocks. I believe that
Scottish constituencies do not have as many arguments
as the English ones. Do we need to give more guidance
about how the constituencies are built, taking into
account communities, rather than change the boundary
limits based on the electorate?
Dr Renwick: The difference between Scotland and
England is in the practice of the Boundary Commissions
with respect to splitting wards. The Boundary Commission
for Scotland is much more willing to split wards than
the Boundary Commission for England. As I understand
it—and you heard evidence on this last week from Tony
Bellringer—it is very difficult for the Boundary Commission
for England to split wards, because it does not have
sufficient evidence to do that. It seems clear to me that,
if you can split wards in a way that does not break
community ties, that is a better way of achieving the
balance between the principles of equality of votes and
maintaining community ties than by increasing the
margin. If the Boundary Commission for England were
able to split wards more often, that would certainly help
the overall process.
Q143 Christian Matheson (City of Chester) (Lab):
Dr Renwick and Professor Hazell, good morning. I
have two quick questions. First, the two previous Boundary
Commission inquiries, which were not voted on in the
end, lacked political support because, I believe, they
reduced the number of constituencies from 650 to 600.
That did not have overall political support. The proposals
would also have meant that some constituencies would
simply not have reflected the communities that MPs
represented. The Government have now recognised that
by reverting back to the number of 650. Is it not
therefore a good thing that we have that safety valve of
final approval from Parliament to reflect the lack of
community cohesion that might be introduced by
boundaries that do not reflect community needs?
Dr Renwick: No, I do not think so. I think the
principle should be that Parliament sets up the rules in
the first place that will allow the boundary commissions
to produce a satisfactory set of recommendations, and
that those recommendations should then be implemented.
Q144 Christian Matheson: But the opposition was
proved right in the end, was it not? I do not mean Her
Majesty’s Opposition; rather the opposition across all
parties to the previous proposals, which was proved
right in the end because we moved away from 600 and
back to 650.
Dr Renwick: Yes, I certainly agree that 650 is a better
number than 600, but it was Parliament that legislated
to go to 600, so it needs legislation to make a decision to
move back to 650.
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Q145 Christian Matheson: Secondly and finally, you
are calling for what we have termed automaticity, but
you are also suggesting that there are concerns in the
current set-up that need to be addressed before automaticity
takes place. It is a bit of a chicken and egg situation:
which comes first, automaticity or changes in these
structures? Are you suggesting that this Bill should
include changes to the way that the boundary commission
is appointed and set up, or are you suggesting that we
should not have automaticity this time, but should
legislate for it next time, and use the intervening period
to change the structure and appoint any mechanisms
needed at the boundary commission?
Professor Hazell: Perhaps I could answer that, if I
may? We are suggesting both. We strongly support
automaticity, as Alan Renwick has said. In conjunction
with that, to bolster the independence of the boundary
commissions, in our submission we propose four important
changes to the way in which the commissioners are
appointed. Some of those are already matters of good
practice, which I am glad to say are followed—for
example, that the deputy chair was on the panel for the
appointment of junior commissioners last year. To prevent
any backsliding, we argue that those four changes should
be written into law, so we are inviting the Committee, if
it supports the principle of automaticity, to say that we
should also have those further safeguards written into
the same Bill, in order to strengthen the independence
of the boundary commissioners.
The Chair: Order. We have three people wanting to
ask questions and three minutes left. Mr Linden?
Q146 David Linden (Glasgow East) (SNP): I would
like to ask a question about the situation in New
Zealand. I was struck by the fact that you said the
whole process takes no longer than six months and by
what the hon. Member for City of Chester said about
safeguards. Clearly, we did not get this right in the
legislation to move from 650 to 600. Can you outline
any concerns you have about the associated speed, in
terms of automaticity and the fact that we are trying to
wrap this up within six months? Surely, if we try and
ram this through very quickly it is not going to result in
good proposals.
The Chair: Before that is answered, can we finally
have Jane Hunt’s question as well, please?
Q147 Jane Hunt (Loughborough) (Con): Is it the
case that commissioners are led by judges and that they
have to declare five years of political activity before
they are appointed?
Dr Renwick: I can take David Linden’s questions and
perhaps Robert can take the second question. I think
the New Zealand process is too fast. In a sense, in New
Zealand it matters a little bit less because the constituencies
are only part of the overall electoral system—it is a
more complex electoral system, so they can get away
with it in New Zealand. I do not think that would be
appropriate in the UK.
In New Zealand there is essentially one set of draft
recommendations, then the consultation and then the
final set, whereas in the UK we go through several steps.
The UK system, which the Bill proposes to maintain,
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provides the appropriate safeguards and assurances that
MPs and others can make representations if the original
recommendations are not quite right.
Professor Hazell: To answer the question from Jane
Hunt, yes, it is the case that although the boundary
commissions are formally chaired by the Speaker, in
practice he plays no role and never has. The commissions
are led by the deputy chair, who, in each of the four
nations of the UK, is a High Court judge, or equivalent.
To assist the deputy chair, other commissioners are
appointed by the Government; for the Boundary
Commission for England they are appointed by the
Cabinet Office Minister. The commissioners appointed
last year, for example, were appointed for a five-year
term, which is renewable. In our submission, we argue
that future boundary commissioners should be appointed
only for a single non-renewable term, because that is
now best practice in relation to other important
constitutional watchdogs.
I will mention three recent changes to the law to
make the appointment of those people non-renewable.
The parliamentary ombudsman is now appointable for
a non-renewable seven-year term; that law was changed
in 2006. In 2011, the Comptroller and Auditor General
appointment was made for 10 years, non-renewable. In
2012, the Information Commissioner appointment was
made non-renewable for a single term of seven years.
The Chair: Professor Hazell and Dr Renwick, on
behalf of the Committee, I thank you very much for the
time you have spent with us. We all feel cheated that we
could not see your faces; nevertheless, we are very
grateful for the evidence you have given us.
Examination of Witness
Chris Williams gave evidence.
9.57 am
The Chair: To my great relief, our next witness is here
in person.
John Spellar (Warley) (Lab): Chair, before we come
on to that, we have had several references in evidence to
the OSCE report. Would it be possible for the Clerks to
get the link for that and send it through to members of
the Committee?
The Chair: That is a splendid idea. Thank you for
that suggestion. It will be done sooner rather than later.
I am delighted that Chris Williams is here in person.
He is the head of elections and field operations for the
Green party. We have until 10.20 am for this session,
not as was indicated on the Order Paper. Mr Williams,
please briefly introduce yourself.
Chris Williams: I am Chris Williams. I work for the
Green party of England and Wales as head of elections
and field operations.
Q148 Chloe Smith: Mr Williams, thank you for joining
us this morning. I thank all the political parties that
have given some technical engagement with the Bill
in its development. Please set out what you think of
the Bill and any particular characteristics you would
point to.
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Chris Williams: I can run through our thoughts briefly.
Thank you for the involvement we have been invited to
have with yourself and civil servants.
We are supportive of the change to 650 MPs. We are
also pleased that the electoral register data to be used
has moved back to March 2020. A minor improvement
would have been to move it to December 2019, but that
is still a good move. Changing the future reviews to
every eight years is positive.
I have some concerns around how the constituencies
will end up looking in terms of representation of the
communities that we want to see well represented as
part of the system we operate within. The 5% tolerance
limit is potentially challenging. We have some concerns
around how all this will be perceived in Wales. The last
speakers spoke about automaticity. I have commented
on perception and the perception that any involvement
from the Government could be seen as problematic
without the ability for Back Benchers to stop any
recommendations once they come back from the
commissions.
Finally, if I have understood things correctly, in future
reviews, the Bill says the deadline in any year for the
commissions to report back to the Government or the
Speaker is 1 October. In future, there would not be very
long before a general election—just seven months. That
does not give a great deal of time for reselection and
candidate selection to take place and for smaller parties
and independents to get their act together, so to speak. I
think moving the date forward to something more like
July before a general election would provide a bit of
protection there.
Q149 Cat Smith: Mr Williams, thank you for coming
to give evidence before the Committee. To push you
slightly further on something you have already alluded
to, what are your views on the very tight tolerance limit
of 5% in the legislation that we will be moving into
scrutiny of on Thursday? How does it relate to those
community links, and what issues do you think that
very tight tolerance will throw up when it comes to the
realities for communities?
Chris Williams: That is a good question. I guess I
should say—I appreciate it is beyond the scope of this
Bill—that the Green party does not support the firstpast-the-post system, but one of the benefits of it is the
very strong link between Members of Parliament and
the communities they represent. If members of a
community perceive that their constituency is of a very
bizarre make-up, or that they have been stuck together
for some convenience, that breaks down that benefit
that currently exists with MPs.
Certainly from my experience last time around, when
we were seeking 600 constituencies with a 5% tolerance
limit, some very bizarre constituencies were put together.
I looked at the west midlands make-up in some detail,
and some of the constituencies were incredibly bizarre,
with an awful lot of complaints. One was effectively a
sausage-shaped constituency that was very, very long—I
think it was the Birmingham Selly Oak and Halesowen
constituency. The only thing that the boundary commission,
bless them, could find to operate within the tolerance
limit that had a community tie was a canal, but of
course if you take that to its extremity, you will end up
connecting some places that are very far away from
each other. Giving the Commission the flexibility to
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have a 7.5% variance in extreme circumstances, where it
is necessary, would help avoid some of those problems. I
can see some real problems in rural areas as well, where
I think a greater tolerance would really help.
The Chair: Just before I turn to Mrs Miller, I want
colleagues who are sitting in the Public Gallery to
realise that I am aware that they are part of the Committee.
If they want to ask a question, they should indicate to
me and then speak from the microphone, as Mrs Miller
has done.
Q150 Mrs Miller: Thank you very much, Sir David. I
thank Mr Williams for coming to give evidence today; it
is incredibly helpful to hear from a wide range of
political parties. I note that in your introduction, you
said you would cover issues in England and Wales, and
I thought I detected a slight accent—I do not know
whether you come from Wales. I wanted to press you a
little further on that, because there are four protected
constituencies in the Bill: two constituencies that will be
the Isle of Wight, a single constituency in Orkney and
the Shetland Islands, and the constituency formerly
known as the Western Isles. Do you feel there is an
argument to be made for protected constituencies in
Wales? Other than Northern Ireland, which I think has
its own set of issues, it is the only part of the United
Kingdom that does not have protected constituencies.
Chris Williams: There is an argument to be made,
particularly around Ynys Môn. I am worried about
how all this is going to be perceived in Wales, with a
drop of about 20% in the number of MPs, and I think it
would be a softener if they see they have been treated
equally with England and Scotland, with Ynys Môn
seen as a protected constituency. There is an argument
about taking into account other geographical features
when protecting constituencies, but if you start to look
at mountains or rivers, you then start to look at the
height or width of mountain ranges, and you get in a
complete mess. Certainly, there is a sea in the way
between Ynys Môn and the mainland, which is exactly
the same criterion that is being used for the Isle of
Wight, the Western Isles and Orkney and Shetland. I
think it should be applied in Wales as well; otherwise
there would be a rightful feeling of wrongdoing to Wales.
Q151 David Linden: Can I ask you specifically what
the Green party’s view is on the distribution of seats
that will result from this Bill? It is my understanding—the
Committee has been told this previously—that Scotland
stands to lose seats, and you have spoken about the 20%
drop in Wales. Does the Green party of England and
Wales have a view on whether or not that is appropriate,
and what that does for the integrity of the Union?
Chris Williams: Our Scottish Green colleagues will
have a similar position to you on the Union. I guess we
come from a perspective of wanting every vote to have
the same weight and potentially the same impact on an
election, in terms of determining the future Government.
The difficulty we have is that whatever we do with the
process and with first past the post, there is always
going to be some inequity between the constituencies,
even if we have no tolerance or variance limit at all. By
the time they come in, the numbers will still be different,
because the data is always historical and never accurate
enough. If we are going to go down the line of every
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vote being pretty much equal, and trying to make that
as equal as possible within the system, it is very hard to
argue for a great deal of difference between England,
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. I would say that
a vote in Hartlepool is as equal as one in Ogmore but, at
the same time, I can see that this might well bring
greater arguments for further devolution.
Q152 Chris Clarkson (Heywood and Middleton) (Con):
On the same theme, Wales has roughly the same sized
electorate as Greater Manchester, where I am an MP,
but we have 27 MPs and Wales has 40, which means
that their average electoral quota is 64,546, to 71,780 in
Greater Manchester. Why do you think that 30% fewer
electors are required to elect an MP in Wales?
Chris Williams: I guess I argue that there should not
be that inequity, except for protected constituencies.
Every vote should be as equal as possible in terms of
being able to influence the future make-up of the
Government.
Q153 Chris Clarkson: So you accept that there has to
be a reduction?
Chris Williams: Yes, unfortunately, but I think that
we need to consider the Ynys Môn example. Giving the
commission the flexibility of a greater tolerance limit
will perhaps mean that places like Wales will feel a little
less hard done by, and constituencies will be a little
more representative of communities.
Q154 Chris Clarkson: What would you say to those in
Greater Manchester who feel hard done by, being underrepresented at the moment?
Chris Williams: I would agree with them.
Q155 Chris Clarkson: But that is at the expense of
taking seats from Wales.
Chris Williams: Unfortunately, yes. I dare say that
England as a whole will not necessarily feel a huge
benefit from about 10 extra MPs, but an area like
Greater Manchester might well do so.
The Chair: No other colleagues are indicating that
they wish to ask a question so, if that is the case,
Mr Williams, before leaving, do you wish to add anything?
Chris Williams: I think I have made the key points.
Thank you for having me.
The Chair: On behalf of the Committee, we are very
grateful for the time that you spent with us. Thank you.
Examination of Witnesses
Professor Iain McLean and Professor Sir John Curtice
gave evidence.
10.8 am
Q156 The Chair: Colleagues, as I mentioned earlier,
the third witness is no longer able to appear, so we now
move to our final witnesses for the morning session:
Professor Iain McLean who, again wonderfully, is here
physically; and Professor Sir John Curtice, who is appearing
virtually. Thank you both for being with us earlier than
anticipated. Will you please introduce yourselves?
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Professor McLean: Thank you, Chair. I am Iain
McLean, professor of politics at Oxford University.
John—as he will say in a moment—and I are academics
who have been working in this area for decades. I have
been a witness at various boundary inquiries, at the
fourth and fifth English reviews, never on behalf of
political parties, but always on behalf of local authorities.
I have published academic papers pointing out that the
former rules were mutually contradictory. That was
fixed in the Fixed-term Parliaments Act 2011, and it is
important that the Bill should not unfix it. I will leave it
there.
Professor Sir John Curtice: I am John Curtice, professor
of politics at the University of Strathclyde. I have
written, as Ian was implying, for about 40 years on the
way in which the single member plurality electoral
system works in the UK and the way in which the
geography affects and has changed its operation in the
post-war period. That therefore meets my interest in
this area, which has been rather more to do with political
ramifications of the commissions’ work and the boundary
redrawing rather than some of the more technical side,
on which you will find Iain much more expert than I,
but I am more than happy to share my observations
from the stats in which I am interested. I have written
about how the electoral systems operate in virtually
every election since 1979.
The Chair: Sir John, your voice is very familiar to us
all. Again, at least as Chair, I feel cheated that we
cannot see you, but never mind. Just so colleagues
realise, you do not have to take the time, but we have
until 11.25 am if you so wish.
Q157 Chloe Smith: Thank you very much indeed,
Sir David. Could we have anything better than more
time with Professor Maclean and Professor Sir John?
This really is a treat—thank you both very much for
joining us. Given that we have a little more time, I would
like to start with a question to each of you, although I
am sure your paths may cross over as the session goes
on.
Professor McLean, you began in your introduction
by referring to the rules having been put right in the
earlier Bill and said that you would not change them
again. Could you go into a little more detail on that? I
am taking you to mean the rules that we find in schedule
2 to the Parliamentary Constituencies Act 1986, which,
as you will know, the Bill predominantly leaves unchanged.
We—perhaps like you—think that they flexible enough
to allow the commissions to do their work, but perhaps
you could elaborate on that. If I may, I would then like
to ask Sir John a question once Iain has had a chance to
speak.
Professor McLean: The rules, as originally drafted in
1986, were mutually contradictory. Rule 1 said that you
should not expand the size of the House of Commons,
and there was an equality rule, the unintended effect of
which, as it was then written, was to tend to increase the
size of the House of Commons after each review, for
mathematical reasons that I hope I do not have to go
into now, although I can.
They are now expired because two things in the 2011
Act fixed that problem. It gave total priority to a fixed
number of seats in the House of Commons, and because
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that overrules everything else in schedule 2 to the 1986
Act, the creeping enlargement of the House of Commons,
which some people thought a problem, is no longer a
problem. Secondly, within the other rules, the 2011 Act
amends the 1986 Act by giving equality of constituency
size priority over the other criteria, including local ties
and respect for local government boundaries. Once that
priority has been set—I am speaking mathematically,
not politically—the contradictions in schedule 2 as it
originally operated have disappeared.
I have looked at—with some difficulty during
lockdown—the text of the Bill and I have it and the
explanatory notes in front of me, via a rather dodgy
connection to my iPhone. I have looked rather nerdily
at the proposed amendments to the vital schedule 2 to
the 1986 Act. From my reading—though I am not a
lawyer—I would say that they do not upset the changes
that were made in 2011 and, therefore, they should be
left as they are. I think that will do at the technical level,
although the Committee may have further questions.
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living in private accommodation or being unemployed.
The Electoral Commission’s most recent report, for the
December 2018 registers, said that they were 85% complete,
meaning that only 85% of those people who should be
on the register are on it, and 89% accurate, meaning
that about 11% of entries relate to people who should
not be on the register at the place that they are at.
The Bill makes no difference at all for all practical
purposes to the rules for redistribution that were passed
in the 2011 Act, but that Act places a premium on
allocating constituencies with respect to electorates. We
know that those electorates are less than perfect; I guess
that if we are really now concerned about the mathematical
accuracy of boundaries, what we should probably be
worrying about is not the rules for redistribution, but
ensuring that those rules are implemented more effectively
by improving the accuracy of the electoral register. But
that is a long-running problem, and I am not trying to
argue that it will be easy to resolve.

The Chair: Shall we go over to Sir John to give you
time to absorb it all?
Professor McLean: Okay. I will be ready to answer
your question, Minister, when you have asked the next
one to Sir John.

Q160 Chloe Smith: Indeed; there is always discussion
to be had about how we can continue to improve the
completeness and accuracy of the registers. Not that I
would get into an argument with you about trends over
time, but my understanding was that those are rising
rather than declining—but as you say, that is a different
discussion.
Looking at electoral registration data with its ins and
outs, as you have just outlined, is it the right kind of
data to base boundaries on—as opposed to census data,
for example, or other kinds that you could conceive of
being collected?
Professor Sir John Curtice: The problem with census
data, obviously, is that it is now nearly 10 years out of
date. You might want to argue that the ONS produces a
mid-year population estimate over time, but it does not
necessarily have the detail required to set up boundaries.
The second problem is that there is a disjuncture
between residency and citizenship. If you went in the
same direction as the Scottish Government by giving
anybody who is permanently resident in the United
Kingdom the right to vote, you might want to consider
population as a reasonable proxy for that. However, as
long as we are going to limit the franchise to British,
Irish and Commonwealth citizens, given that this country
has a substantial resident non-citizen population, you
are probably not going to want to go down the route of
using population. That, again, is tied up with the issue
of the franchise.

Q159 Chloe Smith: Thank you very much indeed.
Sir John, thank you very much for joining us. I
wonder whether you might be able to help us with our
understanding of the data used for boundary reviews.
They are based on electoral registration data; could you
give us your views on the adequacy of that?
Professor Sir John Curtice: The short answer is that
over the long run, from the various exercises—most
recently by the Electoral Commission, and before the
commission was created, by the Office for National
Statistics—that have looked at the accuracy and
completeness of the electoral register, we know that
there are inadequacies in the register that have increased
over time. Those inaccuracies are also related to certain
circumstances such as having recently moved house,

Q161 Chloe Smith: Understood. Thank you for those
opening remarks; that is helpful. Maybe Iain has had a
chance to think about the other question I left hanging
with him.
Professor McLean: Thank you Minister, and thank
you Chair, for your forbearance. It is quite a jigsaw
puzzle, but on page seven of the Bill are what you call
“Minor and consequential amendments”. That is a
mistaken heading; one of them is neither minor nor
consequential. I will not comment on the addition of
the county of Blackpool in paragraph 4 of the schedule;
the only material amendment here is in paragraph 4(2):
“for ‘596’ substitute ‘646’.” As Members know, that is
one of the consequences of keeping the House of
Commons’ size at 650. The number 646 appears in the

Q158 Chloe Smith: Thank you very much indeed,
Professor McLean. I do not mean to take the role of the
Clerk, but I think that I can say that, if it helps, you can
take a copy of the Bill and the explanatory notes from
the table just behind Mr Efford.
Thank you for that helpful explanation. To clarify it
further, do you think that rule 5(1), the list of factors,
does a good enough job of providing flexibility to the
boundary commissions, given its place in the hierarchy
of rules that you have just gone through?
Professor McLean: I may need a moment, Minister; I
have just collected paper copies of the documents.
Would it be in order to ask you to park that question
and ask John in the meantime?
Chloe Smith: Of course. I am still driving at schedule 2
to the 1986 Act, which admittedly you do not have there
in your papers.
Professor McLean: I have the Bill here; the amendments
to schedule 2 to the 1986 Act are at the back, in the
schedule to the Bill.
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paragraph because of the four reserved constituencies,
which are islands exempted from the equality criterion.
That is all good. What is not in here are the changes to
the schedule of the 1986 Act introduced by the 2011
Act. I was in a position to check that yesterday.
The Chair: Order. I am slightly embarrassed, but I
have to share with the Committee that the Bill available
in the room is the wrong Bill. Quite how that has
happened, I do not know. The Clerks will make sure
that the right Bill is available for the next sitting. I was
completely unaware of that, and unfortunately there
is nothing I can do about it, I am afraid. It is a pity.
Professor McLean, one of the Committee members will
get the right Bill; it is on its way, and everyone will have
the copies.
David Linden: On a point of order, the Bill that I am
working from is the one we used for the Second Reading
debate. That is not the Bill in the Committee Room. I
do not know if I am the only person in the Committee
using the Bill from Second Reading. Will you clarify
that, Sir David?
The Chair: The ones that were on the table at the side
of the room were wrong, but Bills from elsewhere are
accurate. I am very sorry about that.
Mrs Miller: On a point of order, Sir David. Could I
ask for clarification on the difference between the Bills?
Is it material to our discussion? Does it affect the
answer we might get from witnesses?
The Chair: My view is that it does not really affect
that materially, but I felt that I should place on record
the fact that the Bill that we had was not the right one.
Chloe Smith: Further to that point of order, Sir David.
The Bill we should be talking about is the Parliamentary
Constituencies Bill. The incorrect one is the Parliamentary
Constituencies (Amendment) Bill, a private Member’s
Bill put forward by none other than my hon. Friend the
Member for Wellingborough (Mr Bone).
The Chair: This is surreal. I thank the Minister for
enlightening the Committee. It was an innocent mistake.
The hon. Member for the City of Chester has kindly
now made sure that we all have the correct Bill. Professor
McLean, are you now in a position to respond?
Professor McLean: It turns out that I always was; my
document is the correct Bill. To reiterate, for those who
are looking at the correct one, paragraph 4 of the
schedule to the Bill, “Minor and Consequential
Amendments”, addresses schedule 2 to the 1986 Act.
That is the one that does all the work. The only material
change that is introduced is one of the consequences of
keeping the size of the House at 650 Members; after
subtracting the four protected constituencies, that is 646.
This ensures that the House’s size continues to be fixed
absolutely. That removes one of the sources of the
incoherence of the schedule as originally drafted.
The other source of the incoherence was that the
electoral equality criterion, until the 2011 Act, had no
priority over the local ties and local government boundaries
criteria. Amendments to the 2011 Act, which is not
further changed and is therefore not in front of you
here, gave the equality criterion priority over the local
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ties and local government boundaries criteria. That
remains unchanged by the Bill. Ministers and parliamentary
drafters have not, therefore, by any mistake reintroduced
any of the inconsistencies in the original 1986 Bill. I
hope that that is sufficiently clear to Members, but I can
expand further if people wish.
The Chair: There we are: the Bill introduced by the
hon. Member for Wellingborough inadvertently got
some further scrutiny from the Committee.
Q162 Cat Smith: I direct my question to Professor Sir
John Curtice. I would like to ask about the mathematical
accuracy of the boundaries that we are drawing up.
Obviously, I do not think anyone would disagree that
we would like constituencies to be as equally represented
as possible, but I have quite a lot of concern that the
data that we are using is not accurate, because the
electoral register, as you said in your previous answer, is
about 85% complete. A huge proportion of people are
missing from electoral registers. Can you see any
opportunity in the Bill, Sir John, to increase the accuracy
of the data that we are working from? Do you have an
opinion about the best source of data to use in drawing
up constituencies, so that they could be sized most
accurately?
Professor Sir John Curtice: The short answer is that
the Bill is not concerned with the process of electoral
administration. The process of electoral registration
deals with electoral administration. As Professor McLean
has just pointed out, frankly the Bill does nothing
material to change the rules on redistribution, including
on the basis on which the electorate is used to do that. I
simply pointed out in my response to the Minister that
there are limitations to the data. We know that those
limitations are somewhat greater in, for example, inner-city
constituencies with a highly mobile population, than in
constituencies with lots of older voters and a more
stable population. That, undoubtedly, is correlated to
some degree with the political proclivity of constituencies.
As I indicated earlier, as long as we wish to make a
distinction between permanent residence and the right
to vote, and as long as we do not wish to have a national
identity card system, it is difficult to think of an alternative
to the system we have. The question therefore is whether
there are ways of improving the accuracy of the register.
One thing we can note is that although we moved from
household registration to individual registration—a
somewhat controversial move—it is not obvious that it
has fundamentally changed the character of the problem
before us.
Q163 Cat Smith: For the purpose of drawing boundaries,
where it is most important that there be as much accuracy
as possible, would combining other sources of information
be a way of improving the accuracy of the electoral roll?
Perhaps, for example, data held by the Department for
Work and Pensions could be added to that on a register,
to ensure that it was more accurate. Obviously, that
would not be applied in elections; it would just be for
the purpose of drawing constituency boundaries, so
that the original data source could be made more accurate.
Professor Sir John Curtice: The answer to that question,
to be honest, is technically beyond my competence, in
the sense that I guess the question that the boundary
commissioners would ask is whether it is possible to
get DWP data—which refers to the right to work, not
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necessarily to the right to vote—at the level of local
government wards, which are the principal building
block used by the boundary commissioners in building
parliamentary constituencies. I would not be surprised
to be told that the answer is no, but I do not know.
Again, DWP data might rely on whether people have a
national insurance record, but that is not the same thing
as citizenship.
Q164 Cat Smith: I will direct a question to Professor
McLean, who I hope now has the right Bill in front of
him. Back in 2010, Professor, you wrote an article for
The Guardian about the boundary review commencing
then. I was interested to see that in it, you progressed
the argument that the most accurate way to ensure that
every vote counted equally would be to move towards
proportional representation. That is outside the scope
of the Bill, but it shows up the conflict that we have.
Would not the way for every vote in the United Kingdom
to count equally be to have just one constituency—the
United Kingdom—and a system of proportional
representation, even though that comes into conflict
with the communities that we represent? Ultimately, if
we are to maintain the constituency link, we have to
have a percentage variance between seats; we cannot
have every single seat with exactly the same number of
electors. It is a question of where we draw the line.
How can that balance be struck? Is the 5% tolerance
most appropriate, or if we are not moving towards a
system of proportional representation, should there be
a larger tolerance, so that community ties are considered
more important?
Professor McLean: For clarity, it is important to
separate the question of proportional representation
from that of the 5% tolerance, because they are different
questions. As I evidently said in 2010—you have better
recall of what I said than I do—a single-member district
system cannot be proportional. That is a mathematical
truth. Legislators must make a choice, and the choice
that the UK Parliament has made is reflected in this Bill
and many others: the single-member district system.
I do not think that it would be a good use of this
Committee’s time to talk about whether the UK should
switch to proportional representation; with your permission,
Chair, I would rather duck that part of the Member’s
question.
On equality, the Member poses an important question:
is it correct that the equality criterion should override
the other ones—the ones on local ties, and on the
constituency boundaries following local government
ones where possible? My view, which is an arithmetical
view, not a political one, is that it is right for the equality
criterion to override the others.
Becoming somewhat more political, my observation
of boundary inquiries is that since local ties are not
further defined in the Act, I have observed on several
occasions that for a number of very shrewd operators,
who will be well known to members of this Committee,
Conservative local ties go one way, Labour local ties go
another, and Liberal Democrat local ties go yet another.
Each of them, because they are paid to do so, makes a
plausible case before a commissioner, who in England is
deliberately chosen not to be from the area. Moving on
from the mathematics, my view as a political scientist is
that the local ties criterion is eminently manipulable,
whereas the plus or minus 5% criterion is not.
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Is the criterion wide enough? In the United States
the courts have said that as near as possible to 0%—
not 5%—is the accepted tolerance for US congressional
districts. So, it is possible to have a tolerance lower
than 5%, but that is not in this Bill and it is not in the
earlier Acts.
Q165 John Spellar: Should we have districts?
Professor McLean: Well, since we have more time
than we thought, we could have a discussion about
US congressional districts, but Members may wish to
move on.
Q166 Alec Shelbrooke: Gentlemen, thank you for
giving your time today. As you have probably picked up
from reading previous reports, one of the issues this
evidence inquiry is trying to get to the bottom of is how
we are going to advise the commissions about the best
way to do these boundaries.
Building on what you have just said, Professor McLean,
about keeping the right size and in terms of communities,
about which one can always argue, can we look at rule
5(1)(c) in the 1986 Act, which is about keeping boundaries
in existing constituencies? My question, to both witnesses,
is about whether the Bill needs to have some clarifications
put in it, especially around what we are struggling with
regarding the Boundary Commission for England. The
evidence from the Boundary Commission for England
was pretty much, “We are always going to try and do it
with wards, and we will just get the numbers to work.”
That overrides almost all the rules in clause 5, including
geographic considerations. I gave the example of a
North Yorkshire ward that one can only get to by
completely leaving the constituency and spending a
considerable amount of time on the road, but it would
make the numbers work.
Can I probe your minds on the resistance to building
outside of the wards, or, in other words, splitting wards
down, as they do in Scotland, in order to try to keep
existing communities together? What are your views on
the different definitions of county constituencies and
borough constituencies? How does that play into the
building of constituencies? Does the Bill need further
guidance to try to equalise the United Kingdom’s approach
to how it builds constituencies, with the gold standard
of Scotland being a good example?
The Chair: Would you like to ask that to both witnesses?
Alec Shelbrooke: Yes or whoever feels it is more
appropriate for them to answer it.
Professor McLean: If John is willing, I will go first,
but John will wish to add something about the practicalities
of the Boundary Commission for Scotland, which he
has written about in academic articles.
The presumption against disturbing existing
constituencies is no longer sustainable because these are
based on electorates in 2000. Population movements, in
what will be 24 years before the new constituencies are
implemented, will make it impossible, in more than the
odd coincidental case, to give any priority to the maintaining
of existing constituencies preference. I think 5% plus or
minus should be enough for the boundary commissions
and the county-by-county inquiries to deal with difficult
situations, such as the one the Member mentioned of a
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large, empty area in the middle of a constituency. I take
it that that is the geographical problem that the Member
mentions.
There are other well-known problems of estuaries,
such as the problems in the Wirral area last time. Plus or
minus 5% should be enough to cope with that. At the
risk of sounding like a stuck record, I think it is right
that in the 2011 Act, which this Bill importantly does
not modify, the plus or minus 5% is given priority over
the other local ties rules.
As to whether local government wards are the essential
building blocks, that is non-statutory. It is the practice
of the English commission, but it has not been the
practice of the Scottish commission. I will now hand
the floor to John to answer that part of the question.
Professor Sir John Curtice: There is a crucial difference
these days between local government wards in Scotland
and those in England. Scottish local government is run
under the single transferable vote in multiple constituencies
system. When that system was introduced, it was introduced
without changing the number of local government
councillors significantly. All the wards elect three or
four members. As a result, every ward in Scotland was
increased by three or four. That means, therefore, that
the building blocks in Scotland are large, making it
difficult for the Boundary Commission to respect more
badges. There are one or two instances in England, such
as Birmingham, where that issue can also arise, but it is
relatively limited.
It is also true—this is not the area of my own expertise—
that some entrepreneurial past secretaries of the Boundary
Commission for Scotland have ensured that the Boundary
Commission has a much better geographically-referenced
database than the one in England. I was reading some
of the evidence given to the Committee last week and
that came out. I am tempted to say that that is one of
the advantages of living in a small country: it becomes
possible to administer things in finer detail. We have
referred to county and borough constituencies. That
only relates to the rules for expenditure. It does not
otherwise make a great deal of difference.
Beyond that, I simply observe that in this conversation
and this morning, and in much of what the Committee
seemed to be talking about last night, seems to be about
what this Bill is not about, as opposed to what it is
about. The Bill does not fundamentally change the
rules of redistribution that were introduced by the 2011
Act and implemented by the Boundary Commissions in
their 2013 and 2018 reviews—sadly, neither of which
were implemented. Apart from changing the number of
MPs, it does nothing to change that—apart from a
minor and perfectly sensible change with the rules about
respected local government boundaries. I suggest that
at some point the Committee might want to focus on
the significant changes the Bill does introduce as opposed
to the areas that the Bill does not propose to change at
all. I understand, of course, that some Members may
wish to unpick the provisions of the 2011 Act.
Q167 Alec Shelbrooke: One reason we are probing
how constituencies are built is because there is removal
of parliamentary oversight. It needs to be done properly
the first time. You rightly referenced the size of the
wards in Birmingham. I am a West Yorkshire MP.
There are two councils in West Yorkshire, Kirklees and
Leeds—out of the five councils—where the wards are
far too big not to be split.
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This comes down to guidance. As you pointed out,
the large wards and the way they are managed in
Scotland has allowed a more detailed approach. When
you get to the arguments of whether it should be plus or
minus 10% or 5%, I am seeking your view as to whether
the arguments about the variations can be overcome by
the guidance, which goes more explicitly to the Boundary
Commission for England in splitting wards.
In the past, there has been a habit of them trying to
form some strange shapes, like American congressional
districts, just to get the numbers right, forming very
strange communities. They have almost always then
changed the first draft significantly in the second draft.
The guidance that will go in this Bill, especially for the
Boundary Commission for England, should try to avoid
that situation.
The parliamentary oversight is going, which I believe
is the correct thing to do. But we must get this right the
first time and use this Bill to iron out these issues. Is this
Bill strong enough, in terms of the Boundary Commission
for England, to construct constituencies, which have an
eye to what has gone on in the past, but do not end up
with peculiar shapes and communities just to make the
numbers work?
Professor Sir John Curtice: Can I respond to that? It
is true that the current arrangements for parliamentary
oversight do not make it very easy for the House of
Commons to change the detail of the provisions. It
basically has to say yes or no, and only after it has said
no can the Government attempt to change the provisions
of the Commission. That is the first point; otherwise, it
is a guess on my part, but I would anticipate that now
we are going to a House of 650 seats rather than one
of 600, some of the difficulties with supposedly major
constituencies may be less sharp.
The final thing to say is that even with us going for
650 seats rather than 600, the next boundary revision is
bound to be a major one. Because Parliament has
blocked both of the last two redistributions that it
ordered, we now have boundaries that are 20 years out
of date. We are also finally getting around to dealing
with the differences in the allocation of constituencies
to England, Scotland and Wales, so this is bound to be a
disruptive redistribution. It will be somewhat less disruptive
than it would have been with 600 seats, but it is bound
to be disruptive, in much the same way as the one that
was introduced in 1983, because that got affected by the
direction of local government.
You might want to investigate the forces that have
resulted in boundaries going out of date—that is, population
movements, which historically for most of the post-war
period meant people moving out of the inner city into
more suburban and rural areas. The last analysis of this
I read, which was by the expert Tony Champion, indicates
that this has been going on to a lesser extent; it is
notable that somewhere like London is now gaining
population and is certainly not going to lose out from
the current redistribution. Of course, nobody knows
what is going to happen in the wake of the pandemic,
but it is worth being aware that some of the demographic
forces that have given rise to the kinds of inequalities we
have been used to may no longer have quite the same
force as in the past.
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Professor McLean: If time permits, Chair, may I
come in on part of the Member’s question, which was
to do with whether the guidance in the Bill should be
more explicit than this current draft? My view is no, for
the following reasons.
The legislation is UK-wide, as you all know. As this
discussion has revealed, the English and Scottish—and,
may I say, Northern Irish—commissions have all taken
different approaches to the local government boundary
question. Those different approaches are all legitimate
within the text of the Act that this Bill amends, and it
does not amend that Act in any material way. Therefore,
I do not think there is any need to give guidance to the
Boundary Commission for England that, if it wishes, it
can be more flexible in Birmingham and West Yorkshire
than its predecessors have been. It already has that
discretion; that discretion is exercised by the Boundary
Commission for Scotland, and to pick up a point of
John’s, if at the last review the Boundary Commission
for England had invested in geographic information
systems that were as up to date as the Scottish commission’s,
some of the problems that the Member mentioned—which
I know concern a lot of Members—could have been
avoided. My view is that as the existing statutory framework
gives the commission the authority to ignore local
government boundaries if it has to, there is no need to
change the draft Bill in that respect.
Q168 Clive Efford: Professor Sir John, how much
does locality and shared common experience in a
community influence how individuals vote?
Professor Sir John Curtice: The research on this goes
back quite a way, and the answer is “to a degree”. For
the purposes of answering this question, I will go back
20 years psephologically, because the psephology of party
support has changed so much over the past 20 years
that this is not necessarily true now. If we go back
20 years, to an era when a middle-class person was
markedly more likely to vote Conservative than Labour,
and the opposite was true of someone who was working
class—that, by the way, is not currently the case—
historically, it had long been demonstrated that if you
were a middle-class person living in an area that was
predominantly populated by people in working-class
occupations, you were more likely to vote Labour than
if you were a middle-class person living in a more
middle-class area.
There were two potential forces going on there. One
is that, to some degree, middle-class people who choose
to live in a more working-class area may actually already
be rather more of a Labour disposition, but equally, it
has certainly long been argued that to some degree, you
are influenced by the social interaction to which you are
exposed, so if you are living in a working-class community,
you are more likely to be exposed to pro-Labour arguments
than if you were living in a Conservative one.
Of course, the world has moved on in terms of the
demography of party support, which is much less clearly
structured by class, and social interaction is no longer
as geographically bound as it once was and can now
take place over social media. Iain may know more than
me, but it has certainly been a while since I have seen
anybody doing anything major on the extent to which
community makes a difference. The only thing that I
would say is that, undoubtedly, one of the reasons why
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MPs will always be concerned about any redistribution
is that it upsets the connection between them and their
existing electorate.
One of the things that we certainly do know—again,
this may also be relevant to your question—is that if
somebody has been elected for the first time at the last
election and defeated the incumbent MP from another
party, there is a fairly consistent tendency now whereby,
in view of the next election, that new Member, who has
probably just won a marginal seat, has a great deal of
incentive to be representing their community and to be
visible and so on, to get something of a personal bonus.
You can see that in the way that the Labour party
defended some seats in 2019, with newly incumbent,
first-term Labour MPs doing well, and it was similar for
the Conservative party in 2017. To that extent at least,
yes, you can certainly also argue that a minority of
voters—in some instances a crucial minority—will vote
for their individual MP rather than for the party, but of
course, if you get a boundary redistribution that carves
up an individual MP’s constituency, that link is broken.
In truth, in our electoral system, there is a continuous
and perpetual tension. We want our electoral system to do
two things: on the one hand, we want it to provide local
representation, and on the other, we want it to be a
system that provides a means by which the electorate can
choose between alternative Governments. I am afraid
that I have spent the last 40 years pointing out the potential
conflict between those two objectives and that, if you wish
to ensure that the system is fair in the ability of voters to
choose between alternative Governments, at some point
you have to let go of the emphasis on local representation.
In a sense, the debate that we are having now about
mathematical equality versus respecting community ties
is a sub-part of that broader debate. Decide what your
elections are about: if they are about the election of
individual MPs and less to do with Governments, you
can focus on representing communities; if you think
that it is a system for enabling us to choose between
alternative Governments, which is the traditional defence
of the single member plurality system, I am afraid that
local representation has to be given a lower priority.
Q169 Clive Efford: If a community has a shared
experience—perhaps, for instance, the “red wall” seats
that people have talked about a lot since the last election—
and wants to express a collective view through the
ballot box, is it not important that those communities
are connected and represented in a cohesive and clearly
identifiable way, where they have common characteristics,
so that their votes will count?
Professor Sir John Curtice: That is what we used
to have in the system of parliamentary representation
when both boroughs and counties were represented and
they were often of considerably unequal size. That
comes back to the fundamental question about what we
think elections should be about. Are they about providing
MPs who represent communities, or are they a mechanism
for choosing between alternative Governments? I am
afraid that is just an inherent tension within the electoral
system that we are looking at.
Q170 Clive Efford: But if those views are diluted
because communities are divided up in a mathematical
exercise, do people not become frustrated because their
collective view, brought about by their collective experiences
in a locality, cannot be represented?
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Professor Sir John Curtice: Well, you are assuming
that the current decisions of parliamentary constituents
in some way already play out in—[Inaudible.] As Professor
McLean has pointed out, what we regard as our community
is sometimes in the eye of the beholder.
Q171 Clive Efford: That may well be true. Nonetheless,
the community has an opportunity to make those
representations to the Boundary Commission.
Professor Sir John Curtice: There is a certain geographical
concentration of voters who may or may not feel a
sense of community, or who may in fact feel that they
are an aggregation of many different communities. For
example, I expect that relatively few of the constituencies
in the far north of Scotland necessarily think that their
constituency represents one agreed community, as opposed
to a collection of villages. Indeed, if we go out to the
Western Isles, where even the concept of village does
not really exist, they will not necessarily think that the
constituency is some clear, single, coterminous and
homogenous community.
Q172 Clive Efford: That is true. There are communities
within boundaries, but it is important that they are not
subdivided, just to satisfy a tight, rigid, mathematical
exercise, is it not?
Professor Sir John Curtice: The truth is that whatever
set of rules you come up with, you may discover that
you have got a choice about exactly how you try to
represent community interest. At the end of the day,
you may well simply discover that whatever rules you
come up with, you end up dividing some places that you
think—acknowledging that there is a question mark—might
be a community.
Q173 Clive Efford: My final point would be that, in
that case, should we not allow the Boundary Commission
more flexibility than the 5%, in order to meet those
concerns, where there is a genuine expression of concern
from a local community?
Professor Sir John Curtice: I think my answer is that,
while you might make it somewhat easier to avoid some
of the cries that “This community is being divided”, the
fact is that—if you go back to the current constituencies—
communities are divided. Do we think that some of the
lines that are drawn down the middle of Birmingham or
London boroughs necessarily represent a community
boundary? I suggest that they do not always do so.
Q174 Clive Efford: Can I turn to Professor McLean?
Do we need more than a calculator to map out our
parliamentary boundaries?
Professor McLean: I would urge Members not to go
down that road. Of course, it is a political judgment for
the Committee and the House of Commons. This is
somewhat of a knight’s move answer to Mr Efford, but
paragraphs 86 to 89 of the explanatory notes have a
section about compatibility with the European convention
on human rights. The criteria to be met are in paragraph
88 of the explanatory notes:
“The Bill maintains the principle of equal suffrage”.

The wider the margin, the less equal is the suffrage.
That is the trade-off, which Parliament must decide to
make. My view is that plus or minus 5% is ample, given
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that we have the device of protected constituencies. Of
course, Members may wish to add to that number. I
see that an amendment has been tabled that Ynys Môn
should be added to the list, and Members might feel
that Wirral should be added. Those are further instances
of geographical peculiarities that might make the application
of the 5% plus or minus more difficult. That is a
political judgment for Members; as political scientists,
or electoral mathematicians, we cannot say anything
about it, except that those might be plausible cases. I
would be against relaxing the plus or minus 5%, in the
light of compatibility with the European convention on
human rights, among other things.
The Chair: Before asking Mrs Miller to put her
question, in a moment the Division bell will ring. Please
stand to observe a minute’s silence for those murdered
in Reading.
11 am
Sitting suspended.
11.1 am
On resuming—
Q175 Mrs Miller: We have had some powerful evidence
that parliamentary boundaries are to a greater or lesser
extent an artificial construct, although rules are put in
place to try to acknowledge issues, which should be
taken into account. I want to probe further something
that Sir John talked about earlier. Because we are dealing
with boundaries that are 20 years out of date, this will
be a disruptive redistribution.
What comments can be made about trying to futureproof any proposals, to take into account any proposed
developments and house building, while noting that
those cannot be taken into any analysis of the quota?
Do our experts have any views on whether that should
be taken into account with regards to the geographical
boundaries, so as to avoid unnecessary disruption in the
future?
Professor Sir John Curtice: There is a difference
between the rules of the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England and the parliamentary boundary
commissions. The local government boundary commissions
are permitted to take into account anticipated housing
developments. I have had the occasional private conversation
with people about this. You may want to quiz the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England. The
question that arises is how accurate the forecasts of
house building and demolition activity are and the
extent to which that ensure that the local government
ward boundaries do not get out of date.
The answer to you is that it is certainly possible—see
the rules of the Local Government Boundary Commission
for England—but regarding the extent to which it is
effective, you should ask the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England, because I am not certain.
There is a difference and you could anticipate doing a
degree of that.
Professor McLean: May I add to that? It is rather
unfortunate that there are two sets of boundary
commissions with different operating rules. Although it
is not in the Bill, I do not understand why there needs to
be a separate local government boundary commission,
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in particular one that operates under different rules, as
John has just highlighted, from those used by the
parliamentary boundary commission.
If one had to choose between these sets of rules—the
Local Government Boundary Commission for England
permitting evidence about future housing developments
and the rules currently before you not permitting them
—I would go with the rules that are in front of you, for
the same reason that I gave in an earlier answer. One
person’s likely housing development, which may just
happen to favour that political party could be countered
by another person’s likely future housing development,
which may favour another party. I feel for the poor
inspector, who is, by construction, not a specialist in the
area, and is faced with claims that are very hard to
adjudicate. You can adjudicate numbers, but future
housing development is much more difficult.

Q176 David Linden: Thank you to our witnesses for
their evidence thus far. Professor Curtice was probably
right to say that we should focus on things in the Bill.
The two major things are going from 600 seats to 650,
and parliamentary approval. To take the first issue in a
question to both witnesses, why do you think that the
Government changed their position, going from 600
seats to 650?
Professor Sir John Curtice: That is not difficult. Turkeys
were persuaded to put Christmas in the calendar in
2011 but, when Christmas eve came along, they decided
to abandon it. There was always going to be a question
mark about the willingness of MPs to vote for their
own demise.
The reason why we were to have the cuts in the first
place is that in 2010 both parties in the coalition proposed
reductions in the size of the House of Commons. That
was a populist response to the MPs’ expenses scandal.
In the end, the cut to 600 that they introduced was less
than those in the two parties’ manifestos. Then, of
course, implementing it became a victim in 2013 of the
spat within the coalition over the failure to reform the
House of Lords, and in 2018 of the anticipated inability
of the then Conservative Administration to get the
provisions through—because they were asking turkeys
to vote for Christmas. I am indicating that that is a
classic case of how, at the end of the day, it is difficult to
persuade Members of the House of Commons to engage
in a radical reform that will make their lives difficult.
By the way, given that you have asked this question,
let me expand its scope slightly. This is an aspect of the
Bill that matters, and this is the question of the attempt
at automaticity. To make it clear, there is an issue about
automaticity—that is, the ability of Parliament to intervene.
Parliament intervened in 2013 and stopped the boundary
commissioners working—that was the work of Labour
and the Liberal Democrats together—and in 2018 the
Conservative Government failed to push the provisions
through. Back in the late 1960s, the then Labour
Government got their MPs to vote down the provisions.
To that extent, there is clearly an issue. Although we
have a process of neutral boundary proposals operating
under rules set by the House of Commons, in effect
the Commons has on three occasions, under different
Administrations, ended up not implementing the rule,
so there is an automaticity question.

Parliamentary Constituencies Bill

94

My concern, however, is that although the Bill might
make it more difficult for that to happen again, it will
not stop it happening again. Given that in clause 8 the
Bill stops implementation of the 2018 review, going on
to have provisions that supposedly make it impossible
for Parliament to overturn things in future, the truth is
that the same is perfectly possible for a future House of
Commons—a boundary review comes along, the current
Administration does not like it, saying, “Actually, we
should delay it”, and all they need to do is to introduce
a quick piece of primary legislation to overturn it.
As we saw with the Fixed-term Parliaments Act, it is
very difficult to introduce provisions that discipline the
House of Commons to keep to a set of constitutional
rules, given that we do not have an entrenched constitution.
Although all of us would laud the fact that the provisions
of the Bill are an improvement, reducing the ability of
Parliament to stop things, we should not fool ourselves
into thinking that it will necessarily stop Parliament,
not least because even within the terms of the Bill an
order has to be laid—instead of
“as soon as is reasonably practicable”

at the moment—under the new provisions,
“as soon as may be reasonably practicable”.

I am not a lawyer, but the distinction between those
two things still strikes me as rather fine on whether or
not we could still be left in the situation that we had in
the last Parliament, when the provisions were simply
were not put before the House of Commons in a timely
fashion. That could be repeated.
Professor McLean: I have very little to add. The
automaticity may look worrying to some, because it
removes the rule from Parliament, but parliamentary
supremacy is mentioned in the explanatory notes and of
course the Bill could be enacted and then repealed by a
future Parliament. That is the nature of parliamentary
supremacy. It would be very embarrassing—the mother
of Parliaments, one of the oldest parliamentary democracies
and so on: it is already very embarrassing that it is
operating on the basis of 20-year-old boundaries and
therefore we did not have equal suffrage in the 2019
general election, to put it at its most blunt. I would
concur with John that Parliament could do it again. It
would be embarrassing, and I rather hope it does not.
The Chair: We have just 15 minutes left, but you
wanted to come back, Mr Linden.
Q177 David Linden: Of all the things that are
embarrassing about the mother of Parliaments I do not
think that is the one that would come top of my list.
Can I ask specifically about the distribution of seats,
and the idea that based on what is before us there would
be a reduction in the number of seats for Scotland and
Wales? Professor Curtice mentioned that it was a destructive
process. Would you go so far as to say that that would
impact on the harmony of the Union?
Professor McLean: It was bound to be disruptive
once a uniform electoral quota was introduced for the
four nations of the UK. John, the Minister, or others
can correct me, but I think that that was done by the
2011 Act. The fact that, as has already been mentioned,
the two instances of review that should have happened
under the 2011 Act have not yet happened, means that
that bomb, as it seems to some in Scotland and in
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Wales, was primed in 2011. It has not yet exploded, but
it will with the implementation of this Bill; but that is a
necessary consequence, as all Members know, of a
uniform electoral quota for the United Kingdom. I
cannot say any more than that.
Professor Sir John Curtice: Can we go back a bit on
the history of this? The truth, as Iain will explain much
more eloquently than me, is that he original overrepresentation of Scotland and Wales was entirely the
product of accident rather than design. When the Scottish
Parliament was introduced in 1999 by the Labour
Administration one of the things that was done as a
result was indeed to reduce the size of Scotland’s
representation in the House of Commons—although it
was done in a manner that was arguably technically
deficient, and did not necessarily deal with the possibility
that there would be future disparities between the growth
in population in Scotland and that in England.
The principle of basically saying that Scotland’s
representation should be proportionate to England’s
representation was already embodied by the Labour
party and Labour Administration at the beginning of
the century. The same thing was not done for Wales
because of course when the then Welsh Assembly was
first created it had only secondary legislative powers,
and it was therefore felt that the devolution was not on
a scale that justified the reduction in the number of
Welsh MPs. Given that we now have a Welsh Senedd
that has primary legislative powers that are not
commensurate with, but not that dissimilar from, those
of the Scottish Parliament, as it were, what has already
been done for Scotland seems to be relevant for Wales.
As to the actual effect, now we are talking about a
650 Parliament: by my calculation, which is based on
the electorates as of the election—but, given we are now
going to do the electorate on 1 March it will be slightly
different, but will not be very different—Scotland is
probably going to lose three seats. It is the last seat, I
think, at the moment, that is tight between Scotland
and England. At worst Scotland loses three seats. Effectively,
Scotland is affected at the edges but not fundamentally,
and the fact that Scotland’s political system and political
representation is now very different from that in England
and Wales is still likely to be heavily reflected in any
new House.
This is essentially a redistribution from Wales to
England, and then within England it is a redistribution
really from a line from East Anglia southwards—as
opposed to the northern parts of England. Of course
one of the ironies of the situation we are now in is that
because the Conservative party gained so many seats—they
had the so-called red wall seats in the north of England
and so on—actually the disparity in the size of the
electorate between constituencies that are represented
by the Labour party and those represented by the
Conservatives is smaller than it has been at any point
during these current set of constituencies. In other
words, changes in electoral geography are changing the
politics of redistribution. London is one of the places
that will benefit; it is now a Labour city. The north-east
of England, which now has a non-trivial number of
Conservative MPs, will lose out heavily. Therefore, actually
the redistributive consequences politically are perhaps
not quite as toxic as we might have imagined 10 or
15 years ago.
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Q178 Bim Afolami (Hitchin and Harpenden) (Con):
Professor McLean, you mentioned that you felt it would
be difficult for the preference of existing constituencies
to be kept to if we keep within the 5% quota, because
there would need to be quite a substantial revision, and
Professor Curtice made similar remarks. Could you
expand a little on your analysis of how that might shake
out? In terms of our recent electoral history, where do
you think this disruption will rank?
Professor McLean: A problem is caused when you
are going by a regional area. The practice of the English
commission has been to go by counties for some of its
units, including administrative counties such as the
former metropolitan counties that were abolished in
1986. That is a defensible practice, because the larger
the unit within which you operate, the easier it is to
reconcile conflicting criteria. Therefore, if you are in a
unit of, let us say, three constituencies, one of which by
happenstance is the right size and the others are not,
it might be difficult to maintain the right-sized one
and observe the other rules. If you are in a unit of
15 constituencies, one of which is the right size, the
commissioners have more freedom to draw a map that
retains the constituency that happens to be the right
size while altering the others.
I said earlier that it is likely—I do not have the data,
but John may—that there are now very few constituencies
anywhere in the UK that are the right size, which is to
say, one 600th of the House, given that we have had 20
years of migration and the disruption mentioned in
Scotland and especially Wales. So I think it will be very
hard to preserve existing constituencies.
Professor Sir John Curtice: All I can add is that I did
look quickly at what statisticians call the standard
deviation of constituency size—that is simply a measure
of the extent to which the number of registered electors
in a constituency varies between one seat and another—and
that number is constantly increasing. Basically, there is
now a greater difference in the size of constituencies
than there was in 2017, there was a greater difference in
2017 than in 2015, and there was a greater difference in
2015 than in 2010. Although politically this redistribution
may not be as dramatic as people on both sides of the
House might imagine, there is no doubt that getting the
constituencies to reflect electorate sizes is bound to be
disruptive.
Q179 Bim Afolami: Do you both think we will end up
with more cross-county constituencies, particularly in
the south-east of England?
Professor McLean: That is going to be up to the
operating practices of the Boundary Commission for
England if it remains non-statutory, and it is not proposed
in this Bill that it should be given statutory instructions
different from those in the 1986 Bill. Thinking on my
feet, I think that with the exception of the Isle of Wight,
which is not a true exception because it is one of the
preserved areas, county populations in the south of
England are sufficiently large that—sorry, we are not
here treating Rutland as a county—
Bim Afolami: It is not a proper county anyway.
Professor McLean: If we take out the Isle of Wight
and possibly Rutland, it should be reasonably feasible
for the English commission to operate at county level,
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but that is an operating matter for the commission. At
present it is not in the Bill. If an amendment to give
greater respect to county boundaries were introduced to
the Bill during its progress, that might imperil the
equality rule, which the current law gives as trumps.
Q180 Bim Afolami: One final question, if I may. We
have talked a lot about the automaticity of this and how
Parliament does not have the ability to vote it down.
Bearing that in mind, do you both have a sense of how
you feel the boundary commissioners might behave
differently now that they would almost have a bit more
freedom because of Parliament’s not having its ability
to vote it down? Do you think they will behave differently
in their judgments? They are obviously very professional
people and will do their work as best they can, but we
all live in the real world and we know that if we think
that Parliament has the ability to vote it down, that
might affect how radical the final findings we present
are.
Professor McLean: The only one of the four commissions
that has possibly felt itself at risk under those conditions
in the past is the Northern Ireland one, where there are
deep issues of community and sectarianism. I am all for
protecting commissions from that sort of pressure. Having
observed the operations of county inquiries in England—I
have never done a Scottish inquiry—I would say that
the boundary commissions’ staff and inspectors have
always maintained great professionalism. I would not
expect that to change under the sort of behavioural
issues that you raise.
Professor Sir John Curtice: I would trust the boundary
commissioners much more than I would the House of
Commons on this subject, to be perfectly frank with
you.
The Chair: I would like to take the two final questions
together because we have only three minutes left. First,
Mr Matheson and then Mr Clarkson.
Q181 Christian Matheson: Thank you, Sir David. I
will be brief. We have talked about automaticity and the
House of Commons using its political interests to reject
proposals from the boundary commissions in the past.
Is there not a danger, however, that the instructions
given to boundary commissions at the outset through
the legislation will also have political considerations in
them based upon who has the majority in the House of
Commons at the time, and therefore a further return to
the boundary commission at the end gives a safety valve
to perhaps counterbalance the political considerations
that might have outweighed the criteria given to the
boundary commissions.
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The Chair: Splendid. Witnesses?
Professor McLean: To Mr Matheson’s question, I am
not too concerned about this Bill, perhaps precisely
because this Bill does not go into the level of detail that
some people might have wanted. It does not give instructions
to the commissions, for instance, to always respect local
government boundaries or not. The commissions have
that discretion. If this Bill is enacted in the rather spare
form in which it is in front of you, I would not be too
worried about the sorts of issues that the Member has
just raised.
Professor Sir John Curtice: Yes, of course you are
right that the rules for redistribution are always politically
contentious. That said, and to give him due praise, the
rules that are now being devised, in so far as how you
allocate seats to the parts of the United Kingdom and
within England, do follow the rules that Professor McLean
was crucial in persuading the Electoral Commission
were the right rules to use for allocating MEPs to the
regions in the European electoral system. That can be
shown to be the fairest way of doing it. On the first
point, yes, you are right.
On the second point, as I have been keen to point out
to you, if at the end of the day the House of Commons
thinks a boundary commission has fouled up, it can still
stop the boundary commission. Any new Administration,
in particular, can stop it by simply passing new legislation,
so you still have the nuclear weapon if you want it.
On the subject of political aspects, that is a part of
the Bill that should be discussed; I am concerned that
there is some political consideration going on here.
Nobody has raised the point that the next review under
this is supposed to end in July 2023 rather than in
October 2023. No justification is given for that in the
Cabinet Office memo or in the explanatory notes. The
only explanation that I can think of—maybe I am being
unfair—is that somebody is wanting to pave the way to
make it possible to hold a general election in autumn
2023 rather than in spring 2024. Certainly, somebody
needs to explain why the next procedure is going to be
foreshortened by three months for a set of boundaries
that are then going to be in place for another eight
years, and this is not going to happen thereafter. There
is no justification so far, and I encourage the Committee
to inquire further.
The Chair: On that final note, which the Committee
will have time to reflect on, on behalf of everyone, I
thank you, Professor MacLean, and you, Sir John, for
the time you have spent with the Committee. We have
greatly enjoyed listening to you both.
Ordered, That further consideration be now adjourned.
—(Eddie Hughes.)

The Chair: Thank you. Now Mr Clarkson.
Chris Clarkson: It is fine, Chair. My question is far
too long for the time we have left.
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11.26 am
Adjourned till this day at Two o’clock.

